CASE NO. 6 6 CORT OF FLORIDA

WILLIAM MIDDLETON,

Appellant,

SID J. WHITE

FEB 28 1985

vs.

THE STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee

CLERK, SUPREME COURT.

By Chief Deputy Chief

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

N. JOSEPH DURANT, ESQUIRE Special Assistant Public Defender GELBER, GLASS & DURANT, P.A. 1250 N.W. 7th Street Suites 202-205 Miami, Florida 33125 (305) 326-0090

Politican in

TOPICAL

INTRODUCTION

The appellant was the defendant in the trial court and appellee was the prosecution. In this brief, the parties will be referred to as they stood in the trial court. The appendix to this brief will be referred to by the abbreviation "App".

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The defendant was sentenced to death by electrocution by the Honorable Judge David L. Levy of the Dade Circuit Court Eleventh Judicial Circuit on September 23, 1980 for his conviction of the crime of first degree murder. The defendant was charged with First Degree Murder; Grand Theft; and Possession of a Firearm in the Commission of a Felony. The trial started on September 17, 1980 before a jury.

An appeal was taken to this Court and this Court affirmed the conviction. See <u>Middleton v. State</u>, 426 So.2d 548 (Fla. 1982).

A Motion for New Trial was filed on October 6, 1980, but it was never scheduled for a hearing.

A Petition for Writ of Certiorari to the United States
Supreme Court was filed and denied by the Court on July 6, 1983.

A Petition for Clemency was filed on March 21, 1984. On March 21, 1984 defendant appeared before the Florida Board of Executive Clemency. On February 8 the Governor denied clemency and signed a death warrant effective from noon on February 28, 1985 to noon on March 7, 1985.

The Superintendent of Florida State Prison of Starke, Florida where the defendant is incarcerated, has set his execution for 7:00 a.m., March 6, 1985.

Other than those legal proceedings referenced above, defendant has filed no other petitions, applications or motions regarding his judgments and sentences before he commenced this post-conviction proceeding.

In March of 1984 the defendant filed a Motion to Vacate the Judgment and Sentence of the trial court pursuant to Rule 3.850 of the Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure. Amendments to this motion were filed in June of 1984 and on February 25, 1985. The primary thrust of the motion was that the defendant was denied his right to effective assistance of counsel, particularly during the sentencing phase of his trial.

On February 25, 1985, the defendant also filed an application for a stay of his death sentence.

Without conducting an evidentiary hearing, the trial court denied all of the aforesaid motions on February 27, 1985.

On February 27, 1985, the defendant filed a Notice of Appeal to this Court.

ARGUMENT

POINT ONE

THE DEFENDANT WAS DENIED HIS RIGHT TO EFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL AS GUARANTEED BY THE SIXTH AMENDMENT OF THE UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION AND ARTICLE I, SECTION 16 OF THE FLORIDA CONSTITUTION

The locus of the defendant's claim of ineffective assistance of counsel is his failure to adequately investigate, prepare and present testimonial and documentary evidence relating to various, legitimate mitigating circumstances that are present in the defendant's case and which, if presented to the jury at the sentencing hearing and to the Court, would have dictated a sentence of life in prison rather than the sentence of death.

The United States Supreme Court has repeatedly held that the Constitution requires stricter adherence to procedural safe-guards in a capital case than in other cases.

"The penalty of death is qualitatively different from a sentence of imprisonment, however long. Death, in its finality, differs more from life imprisonment than a 100-year prison term differs from one of only a year or two. Because of that qualitative difference, there is a corresponding difference in the need for reliability in the determination that death is the appropriate punishment in a specific case."

Woodson v. North Carolina, 428 U.S. 280, 305 (1976) (plurality opinion) (footnote omitted)

The performance of defense counsel is a crucial component of the system of protections designed to ensure that capital punishment is administered with some degree of rationality.

"Reliability" in the imposition of the death sentence can be approximated only if the sentencer is fully informed of "all possible relevant information about the individual defendant whose fate it must determine. Jurek v. Texas, 428 U.S. 262,276 (1976) (plurality opinion, emphasis added). The job of amassing that information and presenting it in an organized and persuasive manner to the sentencer is entrusted principally to the defendant's lawyer. The importance to the process of counsel's efforts² combined with the severity and irrevocability of the sanction at stake, require that the standards for determining what constitutes "effective assistance" be applied especially stringently in capital sentencing proceedings.³

In the case at bar, trial counsel failed miserably in his performance at the sentencing phase of the defendant's trial. Counsel failed to enumerate the glaring mitigating circumstances to the jury and Court, which consist of both statutory as well as non-statutory mitigating factors. The most crucial of those present being the defendant's inability to conform to the requirements of the law as a result of mental disease. See Affidavit of defendant (App. 1,2) and Affidavit of Dr. Mark J. Kane (App. 3).

See also Zant v. Stephens, U.S. (1983); Eddings v. Oklahoma, 455 U.S. 104, 110-112 (1982); Lockett v. Ohio 438 U.S. 586, 604 (1978) (plurality opinion)

See Goodpaster, The Trial for Life: Effective Assistance of Counsel in Death Penalty Cases, 58 N.Y.U.L. Rev. 299, 303 (1983)

An additional reason for examining carefully a Sixth Amendment challenge when it pertains to a capital sentencing proceeding is that the result of finding a constitutional violation in that context is less disruptive than a finding that counsel was incompetant in the liability phase of a trial.

In 1974, the defendant was described in a Psychiatric screening report as having a "passive aggressive personality". yet this report was not mentioned to the jury and there was no testimony presented to substantiate the mental disorder. Counsel failed to present testimony concerning the physical and mental abuse that the defendant was subjected to as a youth from his father, nor was it mentioned that the defendant had lost his mother at an early age and was consequently shuffled from one foster home to the next. In deed, counsel never even discussed these mitigating factors with the defendant or inquired of the defendant's background and childhood. Such an omission rendered the sentencing phase of the trial meaningless, but more importantly, counsel's failure to adequately investigate, prepare and present evidence of the defendant's background and mental illness deprived the defendant of effective assistance of counsel as quaranteed by the Constitution.

The United States Supreme Court has addressed the issue of the value of presenting character and background circumstances in the sentencing phase of a capital trial. In Eddings v.
Oklahoma, supra at 112, the Court stated:

"the fundamental respect for humanity underlying the Eighth Amendment. . . requires consideration of the character and record of the individual offender and the circumstances of the particular offense as a constitutionally indispensable part of the process of inflicting the penalty of death."

quoting Woodson v. North Carolina, 428 U.S. 280, 304 (1976) (opinion of Stewart, Powell and Stevens, JJ.)

Counsel's failure to present evidence of mitigating fac-

tors to the jury and Court was even noticed by this Court in it's opinion affirming the defendant's conviction and sentence of death. In <u>Middleton v. State</u>, 426 So.2d 548 (1982) at page 838, the Court addressed the imposition of the death penalty and stated:

"Appellant contends that the trial court erred in finding no mitigating circumstances. Specifically he argues that the judge should have found and considered the fact that appellant was operating under the influence of extreme emotional disturbance. He says that he was under great stress as the aftermath of his prison experience, that the tension built up, and that he lost his temper and directed his anger towards the victim. The evidence to support his position is not clear enough to enable us to hold that the trial judge erred in declining to find the existence of such mitigating factors." (emphasis added).

The reason that it was not clear enough to this Court was because trial counsel failed to investigate, prepare and present in an organized and meaningful way to the jury and trial court, all of the necessary documentation, expert testimony as well as psychiatric reports that would have substantiated the defendant's position that the death penalty was not appropriate under law and the facts of this case. Because the sentencer was not "fully informed of all possible relevant information about the individual defendant whose fate it must determine", the <u>reliability</u> of the outcome of the proceeding has cast a serious doubt, <u>Jurek</u>, supra, and therefore, the sentence of death should be vacated.

The United States Supreme Court recently defined the Sixth Amendment's requirement of effective assistance of counsel in Strickland v. Washington, U.S.____, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 80

L.Ed.2d 674, (1984). In <u>Strickland</u> the Court held that in adjudicating a claim of ineffectiveness of counsel, a court should keep in mind that the principles the Court had set down for ineffective assistance of counsel claim did not establish mechanical rules. The Court stated:

"Although those principles should guide the process of decision, the ultimate focus of inquiry must be on the fundamental fairness of the proceeding whose result is being challenged. In every case the Court should be concerned with whether, despite the strong presumption of reliability, the result of the particular proceeding is unreliable because of a breakdown in the adversarial process that our system counts on to produce just results." Id at 35 CrL 3074.

In the case at bar, counsel's failure to investigate, prepare and present the mitigating factors in the defendant's case to the jury and trial court amounts to a breakdown in our adversarial process and the end result is the unreliability of the outcome of the sentencing phase of the trial. Strickland, Jurek, supra.

Trial counsel's failure to discuss with the defendant the mitigating factors and circumstances involved in his case left counsel unprepared to effectively argue these factors to the jury. This failure was demonstrated in the jury sentencing proceeding where counsel did not present a case at all. The jury sat in judgment on a capital sentencing hearing wherein only one side presented any argument. The State presented a one sided argument for the death penalty with aggravating factors.

Counsel's job was to argue the mitigating factors as they relate

to the offense, defendant's background, any mental disorders, etc. The record will reflect that this was not done.

The operative significance of this was that the defendant was denied his constitutional right to effective assistance of counsel at the sentencing phase of the trial. The basis for a decision in this capital sentencing - aggravating versus mitigating circumstances - were argued by the State with no adversarial rebuttal by counsel. Trial counsel simply failed to present meaningful arguments relating to the defendant's inability to conform his conduct to the requirements of law or his extreme emotional disturbance and relative youth. Counsel did not play the adversarial role necessary to ensure fairness of the capital sentencing proceeding. The direct and proximate result of counsel's deficient performance before the jury and Court at sentencing was the denial of mercy by the jury. In such a capital penalty trial, the defendant has but one line of defense, arguments by counsel that the mitigating factors outweigh the aggravating factors. The argument of counsel to the jury during the penalty phase reflects his ignorance to his client's potential defenses.

POINT TWO

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING THE DEFENDANT'S MOTION TO VACATE THE JUDG-MENT AND SENTENCE WITHOUT FIRST CON-DUCTING AN EVIDENTIARY HEARING ON THE INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL CLAIM.

The factual allegations of the motion to vacate judgment and sentence (which are set forth in the foregoing argument under Point One) state an extremely strong claim of ineffective assistance of counsel under the standards of Knight v. State, 384 So.2d 997 (Fla. 1981) and the Strickland case, supra. The three parts of the Knight burden for establishing ineffective assistance claims have been met here. Defendant has identified specific acts and omissions upon which the effective assistance claim is based; shown the omissions are "substantial and serious" deficiencies below the standard for competent counsel, particularly in light of the fact that higher standards are required of attorneys trying cases in which a man's life is at stake; finally, deficiency was such that there is a reasonable probability that the result of the sentencing phase would have been different. And therefore, an evidentiary hearing is mandated. See Smith v. State, 457 So.2d 1380 (Fla. 1984).

For a case directly in point, we would rely upon <u>Holmes</u>

<u>v. State</u>, 429 So.2d 297 (Fla. 1983). In that case, this Court observed:

"The second category of arguments is that defense counsel's representation throughout the sentencing proceedings was substantially deficient. Specific acts which appellant points to in claiming that counsel was ineffective are: the waiver of the right to an advisory sentencing jury, the failure to

contest or negate the existence of aggravating circumstances, and the failure to present available expert evidence of appellant's mental and emotional condition in support of mitigating circumstances."

In reversing the death sentence, this Court said:

"We find defense counsel's representation during the proceedings on sentencing to have been substantially deficient and measurably below the standard for competent counsel. Instead of concentrating on the particular mitigating aspects of the case, defense counsel made a general argument against capital punishment and expressed the hope that the judge had "mellowed" since the last time he had sentenced an offender to death. Furthermore, we find that under the circumstances the deficiency was so substantial as to have probably affected the outcome of the proceedings on the question of sentencing. Since the response of the state in the proceeding below and on appeal has not shown beyond a reasonable doubt that Holmes was not prejudiced by the ineffectiveness of the legal counsel he received, we find that Holmes is entitled to relief on his motion to vacate the sentence of death".

In <u>Holmes</u>, the trial court properly held an evidentiary hearing. The necessity of holding an evidentiary hearing on a claim of ineffectiveness of counsel was stressed by this Court in <u>Jones v. State</u>, 446 So.2d 1059 (Fla. 1984). There, this Court reasoned as follows:

"Although we find that the trial judge did not commit reversible error in failing to have an evidentiary hearing on this ineffective-assistance-of-counsel claim, we would encourage trial judges to conduct evidentiary hearings when faced with this type of proceeding in view of the relatively recent decision of the United States Supreme Court in Sumner v. Mata, 449 U.S. 539, 101 S.Ct. 764, 66 L.Ed.2d 722 (1981). It is important for the trial courts of this state to recognize that, if they hold an evidentiary

hearing on this type of issue, under the Sumner decision their finding of fact has a presumption of correctness in the United States district courts.

* * * * *

When a state court does not hold an evidentiary hearing, the United States district courts believe they are mandated to hold an evidentiary hearing because of the provisions of subparagraphs (2),(3),(6),(7)and (8) of section 2254(d) unless they can find that the petition is totally frivolous. The practical effect of the state court's denial of an evidentiary hearing on an ineffective-assistance-ofcounsel claim is to leave the factual finding on this issue to the federal courts. It is for this reason that we suggest, even when not legally required, that trial courts conduct, in most instances, evidentiary hearings on this type of issue".

POINT THREE

REPEATED REFERENCE TO DEFENDANT'S PRISON TERM AND THAT HE WAS ON PAROLE AT THE TIME OF THE OFFENSE VIOLATED THE SIXTH, EIGHTH, AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENTS TO THE UNITED STATES CONSITUTION.

Defendant's prior incarceration and parole was referred to on numerous occasions by the prosecutor, defense counsel, and several witnesses (Tr. 131, 162-3, 296, 308-9) during the guilt phase of trial. These references were made gratuitously and excessively and bore no relevance to the issue of guilt being tried and were highly prejudicial to defendant. Defense counsel failed to object or otherwise adequately move to limit these references.

During cross-examination of the defendant at trial, the prosecutor made reference to the fact the defendant was on parole

and had violated it by leaving the state (Tr. 369), excessive reference to the fact defendant was "able" to work but did not (394), revealed that he was previously in prison by asking his "address" just prior to living with victim (Tr. 376), implied the burden of proof shifted to the defendant because he had not brought in "other witnesses to demonstrate where he was on the date of the offense (386). None of these questions was objected to by defense counsel, and the questions and answers were not relevant and were highly prejudicial to defendant.

Florida law has long prohibited the introduction of evidence or questioning of witnesses about prior convictions of the defendant which are unrelated to the crime charged. Whitehed v. State, 279 So.2d 99 (Fla. 2d DCA 1973); Williams v. State, 110 So.2d 654 (Fla. 1959); F.S.A. Section 90.404(2)(a). See also Warren v. State, 371 So.2d 219 (Fla. 2d DCA 1979); Fouts v. State, 374 So.2d 22 (Fla. 2d DCA 1979). The repeated reference to the prison and parole was excessive and overreaching, and resulted in the trial of defendant on irrelevent issues. Introduction of such evidence and testimony was found to violate due process and to render a trial fundamentally unfair in Panzaveccio v. Wainwright, 658 F.2d 337 (5th Cir. Unit B 1981) ("The proper balance between judicial economy and the prejudicial effect of evidence of prior convictions was not struck in this instance.") The position of the Florida Courts is that "admission of evidence of an accused's prior arrests is ordinarily deemed so prejudicial that it automatically requires reversal of his conviction", Dixon v. State, 426 So.2d 1258 (2d DCA 1983).

CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing argument and authorities cited, this Court should grant the defendant's motion for stay of execution, reverse the trial court's order denying the motion to vacate judgment and sentence, and remand this cause to the trial court for an evidentiary proceeding.