CLERK, SUPREME COURT

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

WILLIAM MIDDLETON,

Appellant,

vs.

THE STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

AN APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE ELEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR DADE COUNTY, FLORIDA CRIMINAL DIVISION

BRIEF OF APPELLEE

JIM SMITH Attorney General Tallahassee, Florida

MICHAEL J. NEIMAND Assistant Attorney General Ruth Bryan Owen Rohde Building Florida Regional Service Center 401 N.W. 2nd Avenue, Suite 820 Miami, Florida 33128 (305) 377-5441

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

ARGUMENT

Ι

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN DENYING, WITHOUT AN EVIDENTIARY HEARING THE DEFENDANT'S CLAIM THAT HE WAS DENIED EFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL AT TRIAL WHERE THE CLAIMED INEFFECTIVENESS OF COUNSEL WAS TRIAL STRATEGY WHICH WAS REA-SONABLY EFFECTIVE UNDER THE CIRCUM-STANCES.

The Defendant contends that his trial counsel was ineffective at the penalty stage of his trial when he failed to present evidence to the jury of Defendant's emotional state at the time of the crime. As evidence thereof, he states that trial counsel failed to present a six year old psychiatric report; evidence that Defendant was an abused child; and that Defendant's mother died when he was young. Defendant contends that the reason the foregoing was not presented to the sentencing jury was because trial counsel failed to investigate for mitigating evidence.

The State submits, and the record supports, that trial counsel knew of the foregoing evidence but did not argue such evidence as mitigation to the jury because said evidence, even after the verdict of guilt was fundamentally inconsistent with the only defense, to wit: innocence.

Furthermore, based on the totality of the circumstances, this strategy was reasonably effective and therefore this claim cannot be a basis for claims of ineffective assistance of counsel. <u>Jones v. Estelle</u>, 632 F.2d 490, 492 (5th Cir. 1980), <u>cert. denied</u>, 451 U.S. 916, 101 S.Ct. 1992, 68 L.Ed.2d 307 (1981).

This Court in <u>Straight v. Wainwright</u>, 422 So.2d 827 (Fla. 1982) was presented with exactly the same contention:

> [11, 21] Appellant contends that his trial counsel failed to investigate for the purpose of developing evidence of mitigating circumstances. Appellant asserts that his lawyer could have developed and presented evidence of an unstable mental condition at the time of the crime, and of appellant's feelings of remorse for the murder. The state responds that at the hearing below it was shown that defense counsel did not argue such mitigating circumstances because he believed them to be, even after the verdict of guilt, fundamentally inconsistent with the entire defense. For example, defense counsel could not offer evidence of remorse because appellant, from the beginning of the case right up to and during the sentencing phase, had always maintained his innocence of the murder to defense counsel. One of the purposes of a bifurcated trial and separate sentencing trial is to allow just such an inconsistent presentation on the question of sentence after guilt has been determined. See Model Penal Code, §201.6, Comment, at 74-75 (Tent. Draft No. 9, 1959).

However, a defendant through counsel may waive the opportunity to make such an inconsistent presentation on the question of sentence after maintaining his innocence at the guilt phase of the trial. For an attorney to take such a position on behalf of his client does not establish that that representation was ineffective. Defense counsel viewed evidence of mitigating circumstances as fundamentally damaging to the integrity of his client's case. Therefore, we find this argument to be without merit.

422 So.2d at 832.

Accord <u>Funchess v. State</u>, 449 So.2d 1283 (Fla. 1984)(Trial counsel not ineffective where he knew of the defendant's medical history, family problems, and use of drugs and determined that, based on their trial strategy of maintaining his innocence, it would not be beneficial to bring this information to the attention of the sentencing jury). <u>Songer v. State</u>, 419 So.2d 1044 (Fla. 1982). See also: <u>Songer v. Wainwright</u>, 733 F.2d 788 (11th Cir. 1984), <u>cert.</u> <u>denied</u>, 105 S.Ct. 817 (1985)(Trial counsel not ineffective in failing to offer character evidence in mitigation, where counsel knew of the evidence but chose not to use it on strategic grounds).

When the foregoing trial strategy is maintained, and the evidence of quilt is overwhelming, counsel is effective when he argues to the jury at the sentencing phase the

horrible circumstances of execution by electrocution and the fact that a judge can put the defendant in jail for life so that he would not be able to kill again. <u>Alvord v.</u> <u>Wainwright</u>, 725 F.2d 1252, 1290 n.1 (11th Cir. 1984), rehearing denied, 731 F.2d 1486.

The case sub judice is controlled by the foregoing cases and a review of the record clearly evidences that the trial court did not err in denying the claim. The record clearly refutes Defendant's contention that failure of trial counsel to present the evidence was due to his lack of knowledge that it existed. After the jury recommended death, the trial court permitted trial counsel or the defendant to present reasons why the death penalty should not be imposed. (T.675). The Defendant waived his right to speak and instead chose to rely upon trial counsel. (T.685-86). During trial counsel's presentation to the trial court, he presented evidence concerning Defendant's background. (T.676). This evidence included the fact that Defendant's mother died when he was eight years old and that since he was extremely close to his mother, her death came as a shock to Defendant (T.676); that Defendant was then required to live with his father, who abused him and as a result of that abuse, the Defendant was continually trying to run away from home (T.676); that because Defendant had no family and could not live with his father, he was forced to go to State

School (T.677); that he dropped out of school in the eighth grade (T.677); and that Defendant was in jail most of his adult life. (T.682). Therefore, it is undeniable that trial counsel knew of the Defendant's background.

Since trial counsel knew of Defendant's background, the only reasonable explanation of why said information was not presented to the sentencing jury is that trial counsel determined that based on the trial stragegy of maintaining Defendant's innocence, it would not have been beneficial to bring this information to the attention of the sentencing jury. The trial strategy of maintaining innocence is abundantly clear from the record.

In opening argument, trial counsel established the basis for the defense. It was their position that the victim was the Defendant's meal ticket and that it would not have made sense for him to have killed her. (T.128-30). Trial counsel concluded his opening statement as follows:

> He had a place to stay and a person to take care of him, and I believe that the evidence will show that there is no way in the world tht Bill Middleton would kill Miss Johnson.

He loved her like a mother, just like she loved him like a son, and I believe that the evidence will show that after you have heard all the testimony in this case, that

Bill Middleton is innocent of murder.

He never killed Ms. Johnson, and I know that your verdict is going to speak the truth and it will be a verdict of not guilty.

(T.130-131).

The clearest evidence of this defense was presented via the Defendant's testimony during the guilt phase of his trial. During his testimony, the Defendant informed the jury of his family background (T.342) as well as his problems with prison life. (T.352-353). As to his innocence, the Defendant admitted that he confessed, but stated that the confession was false and was only made in order for him to avoid the electric chair. (T.364). The Defendant claimed he was not even in the house when the victim was killed and the reason he ran away was that he was in shock. (T.356). He further stated that he ran because he was on parole and the police would not believe that he did not kill the victim. (T.358).

Trial counsel's closing argument continued to reinforce the innocence theory of defense. (T.518-37). Trial counsel argued that Defendant was innocent because he lacked a motive since he would be foolish to kill his meal ticket. (T.532-25). Trial counsel also focused on the

Defendant's confession, once again asserting that the confession was false and the Defendant only gave it to escape the electric chair. (T.536).

Therefore, the State submits, based on the record, it is clear that the reason trial counsel did not present the known evidence concerning defendant background to the sentencing jury is that it was a part of his trial strategy of maintaining innocence. This is further supported by trial counsel's arugment before the sentencing jury, where he once again maintained his client's innocence. (T.645). In accordance with the foregoing trial strategy, trial counsel, in his argument before the sentencing jury, detailed the horrible circumstance of an execution and the fact that the Judge could put the Defendant in jail for life. (T.651-55).

Therefore based on the totality of the circumstances, the trial strategy of maintaining innocence during the penalty phase, was reasonably effective. Therefore it cannot be faulted. <u>Meeks v. State</u>, 382 So.2d 674 (Fla. 1980). The fact that the strategy did not prove successful does not mean that the representation was inadequate. <u>Songer v. State</u>, <u>supra</u>. Therefore, since this was a valid trial strategy, Defendant has failed to identify a specific omission of trial counsel which rendered his assistance ineffective and the Defendant has failed to establish a

necessary factor in order to support his claim. This claim precludes Defendant from showing that this action was deficient and prejudicial. <u>Strickland v. Washington</u>, <u>U.S.</u> __, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 80 L.Ed.2d 674 (1984); <u>Downs v. State</u>, 453 So.2d 1102 (Fla. 1984).

On Defendant's direct appeal to this Court, he contended that the trial court erred in finding no mitigating circumstances.

> ... Specifically he argues that the judge should have found and considered the fact that appellant was operating under the influence of extreme emotional disturbance. He says that he was under great stress as the aftermath of his prison experience, that the tension built up, and that he lost his temper and directed his anger towards the vic-The evidence to support this tim. position is not clear enough to enable us to hold that the trial judge erred in declining to find the existence of such mitigating factors. In addition, the jury's recommendation of a sentence of death is a strong indication that it did not find appellant's emotional state particularly compelling as a mitigating circumstance.

> > 426 So.2d at 553.



The Defendant has construed the above pronouncement as a statement by this Court that had trial counsel presented a more detailed picture of Defendant's emotional state, the mitigating evidence would have been clearer and would have required the trial court to consider the same. This is a total misinterpretation of this Court's pronouncement. The only interpretation that can be given to this finding is that the type of emotional disturbance that was tendered was not, regardless of the amount of evidence presented thereon, of the quality that raise to the level of a non-statutory mitigating circumstance, let alone a statutory mitigating factor.

This interpretation is supported by the trial court's sentencing order, wherein the following findings were made concerning Defendant's emotional state:

> (b) Whether the murder was committed while the defendant was under the influence of extreme mental or emotional disturbance.

FINDING:

There is no evidence that William Middleton, Jr. was under the influence of extreme mental or emotional disturbance during the commission of the murder. in fact, the evidence clearly establishes the contrary, particularly as evidenced by the defendant's thorough and detailed statement given to law enforcment officers. From the Court's personal observation of the

defendant throughout the period of time that this trial has lasted, the Court makes the specific and definite finding of fact that the defendant was able to answer the charges facing him and able to adequately, properly, and fully assist counsel in his defense at the trial. The Court observed the defendant conferring constantly with his attorney throughout the trial. In addition, the Court observed the defendant to be paying particular attention to all of the testimony of all the witnesses throughout the trial.

(T.695-96).

Therefore based on the total record the trial court was justified in not considering this mitigating circumstance as a factor in imposing the sentence. Further amplication of said claim would not have changed the outcome in light of the four aggravating factors which have previously been upheld by this Court. See <u>Quince v. State</u>, 414 So.2d 185 (Fla. 1982), <u>cert. denied</u>, 103 S.Ct. 192 (198)(Where trial judge recognized "substantial impairment" mitigating factor, it was not unreasonable to fail to give great weight to that mitigating factor in light of the three aggravating factors which have been found). See also <u>Medina v. State</u>, 10 F.L.W. 101 (Fla. January 31, 1985).

Defendant further contends that counsel was ineffective for failing to present evidence that during the two day period that Defendant alleged he was in Tampa, neighbors

called the victim's home and the calls were answered by two males, one of which was identified as the Defendant. It is clear that the reasons this evidence was not presented was one of trial strategy. The Defendant testified that after he found the victim, he padlocked the house took the keys and left. If this evidence was presented it would have been totally contradictory to the defense of innocence. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN SUM-MARILY DENYING DEFENDANT'S OTHER CLAIMS WHERE SAID CLAIMS COULD HAVE OR SHOULD HAVE BEEN RAISED ON DIRECT APPEAL.

The trial court summarily denied the remainder of Defendant's claims on the grounds that they could have or should have been presented on direct appeal. <u>McCrae v.</u> <u>State</u>, 437 So.2d 1388 (Fla. 1983). In this appeal, the Defendant only challenges this finding as it relates to the denial of his claim that references to Defendant's prior incarceration and parole were highly prejudicial. This claim was cognizant on direct appeal and therefore is not properly before this Court at this time. <u>Adams v. State</u>, 380 So.2d 423 (Fla. 1980).

The Defendant attempts to circumvent this ruling by contending the alleged error was fundamental, thereby not requiring an objection and permitting it to be raised at anytime.² This is just not the case. See, <u>Platt v. State</u>, 124 Fla. 465, 168 So. 804 (1936).

²This claim does not even fall into the ineffective assistance of counsel argument since it is clear that reference to Defendant's status was an integral part of the offense in question as well as part of the Defense presented. (A.16). <u>Shargaa v. State</u>, 102 So.2d 814 (Fla. 1958), <u>cert.</u> denied, 79 S.Ct. 114.

II

CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing points and citations of authority, the State respectfully submits that the trial court's denial of the Motion to Vacate should clearly be affirmed.